**RECEIVED**

NOV 18 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

 ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Barnwell County

Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

DEMETRIUS D. SMALLS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000850  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to the judge's curative instruction after a prospective juror, during jury selection, announced that he had been "locked up" with Petitioner?
  
2. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction on mutual combat when there was no evidence that Petitioner agreed upon a gun fight but instead armed himself in self-defense only after a fist fight escalated when others drew a gun first?

## STATEMENT

On January 25, 2011, the same day the trial started<sup>1</sup>, the Barnwell County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Smalls for murder and assault and battery with intent to kill [ABWIK], indictments #2011-GS-00065, 66. The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, presided over the trial. Josh Koger represented Petitioner Smalls. David Miller and Kip McAlister prosecuted the case. Judge Early presided over a Jackson v. Denno hearing on January 24, 2011, and the trial that started on January 25, 2011. The jury found Petitioner guilty of ABWIK and the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Judge Early sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five (25) years for voluntary manslaughter and concurrent twenty years for ABWIK. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal perfected. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the sentence and conviction. State v. Smalls, 2015-UP-028 (S.C. Ct.App. filed January 15, 2015).

On November 2, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. On January 29, 2016, the State filed a return. On August 22, 2016, Petitioner filed a first amendment to the PCR application. On September 1, 2016, petitioner filed a second amendment to the PCR application.

On January 26, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Maite Murphy. Lance Boozer represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Julie Coleman represented the State. In a written order signed March 1, 2017, Judge Murphy denied and dismissed the application. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on April 10, 2017. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> See App. pp.48-49.

## ARGUMENTS

1. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to the judge's curative instruction after a prospective juror, during jury selection, announced that he had been "locked up" with Petitioner.

During jury selection the trial judge asked members of the jury panel, "Any member of the jury panel now or in the past been related by blood or marriage to Demetrius D. Smalls or you now or in the past had a close personal or social relationship with Mr. Smalls, if so, please stand." (App. p. 30, lines 14-17). Juror number 3 answered out loud in front of the entire panel, "Real close to them, personal friend, known the family a long time. Me and him had an incident a couple of years ago where we had been locked up together, and I feel, I feel I would, I feel that I would - - -" (App. p. 34, lines 21-25). The judge excused the juror and then told the jury panel, "Ladies and Gentlemen, the fact, be seated, the fact that this young man mentioned that they were locked up in the past, that ain't got anything to do with this trial. Disregard, disregard that statement. I mean we all grow up sometimes and we may get in it a little. That ain't got anything to do with this case. Just disregard that." (App. p. 35, lines 5-10). Trial counsel did not object to the instruction.

After the jury was selected, Appellant moved to dismiss the jury and the panel based on the comment from the excused juror. Counsel for Petitioner stated, "I do not have the juror number, but, but the comment summarily that there, they were locked up together for a period of time. It is our position that with the whole, with the entire jury panel and the subsequent jury that we selected, that those comments brings about the strong possibility that the jury, that the jury pool was tainted, that it would be prejudicial against my client and subsequently the jury we selected is tainted. So, we would ask that this jury panel and the jury be dismissed. (App. p. 49,

line 24 – p. 50, lines 1-7). The judge denied the motion finding that his curative instruction and other comments to the jury were adequate.

The issue of the judge’s refusal to dismiss the entire jury panel was raised on direct appeal. In an unpublished opinion the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

We find the issue of whether the circuit court erred by failing to dismiss the entire jury panel when during voir dire a prospective juror stated he and Smalls had been previously incarcerated together was not preserved for appellate review because Smalls failed to contemporaneously object to the circuit court's curative instruction. See State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 510, 476 S.E.2d 903, 911-12 (1996) ("If the [circuit court] sustains a timely objection to testimony and gives the jury a curative instruction to disregard the testimony, the error is deemed to be cured. No issue is preserved for appellate review if the objecting party accepts the [circuit court's] ruling and does not contemporaneously make an additional objection to the sufficiency of the curative charge or move for a mistrial." (citations omitted)).

State v. Smalls, 2015-UP-028 (S.C. Ct.App. filed January 15, 2015).

In the first amendment to the application for post-conviction relief Petitioner sought relief based on the fact that, “Counsel failed to object, move for mistrial and/or preserve for appellate review the fact that during jury selection, one juror openly stated he had been previously incarcerated with the Applicant. A curative instruction was given, however, counsel failed to contemporaneously object to the instruction.” (App. p. 635). When asked about why he did not object when the potential juror announced that he had been locked up with Petitioner trial counsel answered, “Well, I didn’t want to draw additional attention to it. I mean, basically, it’s the type of thing that, you know, he stated it, okay, you don’t want to reinforce it in the jurors’ mind by making an objection right then before the other jurors in the pool.” (App. p. 691, lines 1-6). Counsel testified that he believed that by moving to dismiss the entire jury panel and jury after jury selection that he had preserved the issue for appellate review. (App. p. 693, line 16 – p. 694, lines 1-6). Trial counsel was incorrect.

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

Applicant alleges that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a potential juror's comments about being "locked up" with Applicant during jury selection, which led the jury to hold his prior conviction against him. This allegation is meritless.

Trial counsel gave a valid strategic reason for choosing not to object at the time the comment was made. He credibly testified that he chose not to draw the jury pool's attention to the comment by objecting. He objected immediately once he was outside the presence of the jury, he requested a new trial, and the trial court denied his motion but gave a curative instruction. Because Trial Counsel strategically chose not to object and made the appropriate objections once outside the presence of the jury, this Court finds that Trial Counsel was not deficient in his actions.

(App. p. 739). The PCR judge erred. Counsel could have preserved the issue for appellate review without drawing further attention to the issue. Counsel should have immediately asked to approach the bench and moved to dismiss the entire panel based on the comment from the potential juror. If the judge denied the motion at that point, trial counsel then should have contemporaneously objected to the curative instruction and moved for a mistrial. Because counsel could have preserved the issue for appellate review without drawing the jury panel's attention to the prejudicial comment from the potential juror, the purported strategic reason is not valid. When trial counsel untimely moved, outside the presence of the jury, to dismiss the jury and the panel based on the comment from the excused juror, trial counsel still failed to object to the curative instruction and failed to move for a mistrial. There is no strategic reason for failing to object to the curative instruction and move for a mistrial outside the presence of the jury.

The PCR judge additionally found that Petitioner failed to show prejudice from trial counsel's failure to contemporaneously object to the curative instruction writing:

Furthermore, Applicant can show no prejudice in the lack of contemporaneous objection because the jurors heard about Applicant's prior convictions later at trial. Applicant has a prior cocaine conviction from 2005 which was brought to the jury's attention as admissible impeachment evidence when he took the stand

to testify, which he had to do in order to advance his strategy of self-defense. This Court finds that, because the jury knew about the conviction anyway, Applicant has not shown any prejudice from the comment made by the potential juror.

(App. p. 739). The PCR judge erred.

The comment about being “locked up” with Petitioner was highly prejudicial because it was made at the very beginning prior to the jurors knowing anything about the case and setting a negative tone indicating that Petitioner had been incarcerated on some other charge. While the jury learned about a prior cocaine conviction from 2005, when Petitioner testified at trial, the questioning was brief and came close to the end of the trial after the jury heard Petitioner’s testimony. (App. p. 421, lines 21-23). The jurors may have reasonably concluded that Petitioner was “locked up” with the excused juror on some other charge in addition to the 2005 cocaine charge.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he believed the importance of Petitioner’s self-defense testimony outweighed the jury learning of the 2005 cocaine conviction. (App. p. 694, line 23 – p. 695, line 1). Petitioner’s testimony, however, was not necessary to establish self-defense. Agent Harley with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division testified that Petitioner gave a statement indicating that he acted in self-defense. (App. p. 345, line 23 – p. 346, line 1). Petitioner’s statements were introduced in evidence by the State. (App. p. 168, lines 19-23; p. 175, lines 1-6). Julius Tilley was called as a witness by the defense and testified that after the fist fight between Petitioner and Terrance Mayes ended, Terrance’s brother, Zantrell Mayes pulled a gun, cocked the gun and put the gun in Petitioner’s face. (App. p. 308, line 13 – p. 309, lines 1-25). Tilley testified that Terrance then came from behind a car and reached in his pocket for a gun. (App. p. 310, line 1 – p. 311, lines 1-20). Zantrell Mayes

admitted pulling a .380 pistol during a confrontation with Petitioner. (App. p. 78, line 1 – p. 79, lines 1-25).

In Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 367, 409 S.E.2d 344, 345–46 (1991), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

It is well-settled that absent specific exceptions, evidence of other bad acts is inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate the accused is a bad person. State v. Coleman, 301 S.C. 57, 389 S.E.2d 659 (1990); State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Here, evidence that petitioner was previously jailed on unspecified charges was not admissible under any exception. Nor was it admissible as impeachment evidence. See State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 391 S.E.2d 241 (1990). This Court has held evidence introduced for the sole purpose of implying a defendant has a prior criminal record is improper. State v. Tate, 288 S.C. 104, 341 S.E.2d 380 (1986); see also People v. Bennett, 413 Ill. 601, 110 N.E.2d 175 (1954) (mere proof a party has been arrested is inadmissible). We therefore conclude counsel's failure to object to the repeated reference to petitioner's prior incarceration or to request a curative instruction constitutes deficient representation under an objective standard of reasonableness.

As in Geter, trial counsel's failure to contemporaneously object to the comment by the potential juror that he and Petitioner had been "locked up" together and failure to object to the curative instruction given and move for a mistrial constitutes deficient representation under an objective standard of reasonableness. Unlike Geter, however, Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance. The jury had to determine if Petitioner acted in self-defense and his credibility was a critical factor to be determined by the jury.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2052; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). First, the applicant must show counsel's representation was

deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2052. Next, the applicant must show he was prejudiced by counsel's performance such that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Id. at 693, 104 S.Ct. at 2052.

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the curative instruction as inadequate and failing to move for a mistrial. There is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceedings would have been different. The improper comment by the potential juror and inadequate instruction to disregard the comment occurred prior to jury selection. Petitioner had already been asked to waive the three day notice requirement provided in S.C. Code §17-19-80. (App. pp. 48-49). There is a reasonable probability that if trial counsel had objected when the improper comment was made and when the inadequate curative instruction was given, prior to jury selection and after the three day notice waiver, the judge would have dismissed the entire panel and started over. Instead, trial counsel waited until after the jury was selected to object to the comment and even then failed to object to the curative instruction as inadequate. Alternatively, there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the direct appeal proceedings would have been different, as the issue would have been preserved for appellate review.

2. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction on mutual combat when there was no evidence that Petitioner agreed upon a gun fight but instead armed himself in self-defense only after a fist fight escalated when others drew a gun first.

The trial judge instructed the jury as follows:

The first one, the first element for self-defense to apply, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. If the defendant's conduct was the type which was reasonably calculated to and did provoke a deadly assault, the defendant would be at fault in bringing on the difficulty and would not be entitled to an acquittal based on self-defense. If the defendant voluntarily participated in mutual combat, a fight, for purposes other than protection, the killing of the victim would not be self-defense. This is true even if, during the combat, the defendant feared death or serious bodily injury. However, before the killing is committed, the defendant withdraws and tried in good faith to try and avoid further conflict and either, by word or act, makes the fact known to the victim, he would be without fault in bringing on difficulty.

For mutual combat, there must be a mutual intent and willingness to fight. This intent must be shown by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances surrounding the combat. In addition, it must be shown that both parties were armed with a deadly weapon. So, the first element is that the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

(App. p. 517, line 5 – p. 518, line 1). The evidence showed that Petitioner only armed himself with a deadly weapon after Zantrell Mayes pointed a gun at him and he thought Terrance Mayes was reaching for a gun. Trial counsel did not object to the mutual combat instruction. (App. pp. 520-522).

In the first amendment to the post-conviction relief application Petitioner sought relief based on the fact that, "Counsel failed to object to the jury instruction regarding mutual combat as it applied to both alleged victims." (App. p. 635). In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote, "Trial counsel testified that the mutual combat charge was given by the trial court not as a separate instruction but as part of the first element of self-defense. He stated that he believed it was a clarification of "bringing about the fault," because the fight between applicant and the

victims earlier in the day could be seen by the jury as “bringing about the fault” two hours later. Trial counsel testified that this confrontation initially began as just a fistfight. He stated that one of the victims produced a weapon and escalated the fight to a new level. He stated that someone then handed Applicant a gun, and applicant shot the victims.” (App. p. 736).

The PCR judge denied relief finding that, “Because there was evidence that both Applicant and the victim were armed in this fight, the mutual combat instruction was properly given. Any objection to this instruction would have been overruled. Therefore, this court finds that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to this charge. Because Applicant failed to meet his burden in proving deficiency and prejudice, this allegation is denied and dismissed with prejudice.” (App. pp. 742-743). The PCR judge erred. The trial judge erred in instructing the jury with the law of mutual combat when there was no evidence Petitioner agreed to participate in a gun fight. Petitioner only armed himself with a gun after Zantrell Mayes pointed a gun at him and he thought Terrance Mayes was reaching for a gun. Trial counsel was deficient in failing to object to the charge.

In State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 233, 589 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2003), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Georgia has limited the application of mutual combat in another way by holding that mutual combat arises only when the parties are armed with deadly weapons, and that mutual combat does not arise from “a mere fist fight or scuffle.” Flowers v. State, 146 Ga.App. 692, 247 S.E.2d 217, 218 (1978); Grant v. State, 120 Ga.App. 244, 170 S.E.2d 55, 56 (1969). In both Flowers and Grant, the defendant admitted to killing the decedent, but claimed self-defense. In both cases, the disputes that ended in death began as fist fights, and so the court found the mutual combat charge erroneous. Significantly, the court found that commingling charges on mutual combat and justification was “ipso facto harmful” because “it placed upon the defendant a heavier burden than required” for self-defense. Grant, 170 S.E.2d at 56. The court in Flowers explained, “[t]o charge on mutual combat, when there is no evidence to support it, effectively cancels the justification defense.” 247 S.E.2d at 218.

We believe the restrictions placed on the applicability of mutual combat by the courts in Georgia, Colorado, and Texas are warranted. These limitations are consistent with the South Carolina cases in which the mutual combat charges given were deemed to be proper: Porter; Graham, and Mathis. As mentioned, mutual combat acts as a bar to self-defense because it requires mutual agreement to fight on equal terms for purposes other than protection. This is inherently inconsistent with the concept of self-defense, and directly conflicts with the “no fault” finding necessary to establish self-defense. As such, it is only logical that the evidence of agreement to fight be plain, like the evidence of mutual combat present in the Porter; Graham, and Mathis cases.

The altercation between Petitioner and Terrance Mayes began as a fist fight. As the Court noted in Taylor, mutual combat does not arise from a fist fight. The parties must agree to fight on equal terms for purposes other than protection.

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