STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Barnwell County
Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000850

RECEIVED

MAR 30 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

DEMETRIUS D. SMALLS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Certiorari should be denied because probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to the trial court's curative instruction following an improper comment by a prospective juror in front of the jury pool. Trial Counsel offered a valid strategic reason for not objecting in front of the jury pool, and, more importantly, there is no prejudice because Petitioner's prior offenses came in as impeachment evidence at trial regardless.**

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to contemporaneously object to the trial court's curative instruction following an allegedly prejudicial comment by a potential juror in front of the jury pool. However, probative evidence supports both the PCR court's ruling that Trial Counsel offered a valid strategic reason for choosing not to object, and its ruling that Petitioner suffered no prejudice because his prior offenses were admitted at trial as impeachment evidence. Petitioner points to the South Carolina Court of Appeals' decision in his direct appeal as evidence of prejudice because the court found his subsequent motion for a mistrial was not preserved for appellate review. However, this argument eschews this Court's standard of review. Here, even if the issue had been preserved for appeal, it would not have changed the result of the appeal, so Petitioner cannot prove prejudice.

During jury qualification, in response to the trial court's question regarding any relationships with Petitioner, Juror No. 3 stated:

Real close to them, personal friend, know the family a long time. Me and him had an incident a couple of years ago where we had been locked up together, and I feel, I feel I would, I that I would - - .

The trial court immediately excused the juror, and instructed the remaining potential jurors:

[T]he fact this man mentioned that they were locked up in the past, that ain't got anything to do with this trial. Disregard, disregard that letter. I mean we all grow up sometimes and we may get in it a little. That ain't got anything to do with this case. Just disregard that.

App. 34-35. Trial Counsel did not object to the curative instruction in front of the jury pool or make any motion regarding the jury panel at that time. The trial court subsequently asked if any jurors knew of any reason they could not perform the jury's duty of determining the facts and applying it to the as instructed by the court. No juror indicated any problem based on Juror No. 3's statement.

After jury selection, the trial court asked if there were any motions regarding jury selection, and both the State and Petitioner responded there were none. The court dismissed the jury and asked Trial Counsel if he had a motion regarding the statement by Juror No. 3. App. 48-49. Trial Counsel moved to dismiss the selected jury panel and the entire jury pool on the ground Juror No. 3's statement that he and Petitioner "were locked up together" was prejudicial to Petitioner and tainted the jury pool. The trial court denied the motion, finding the curative instruction, combined with the subsequent question regarding whether there was any reason the jurors could not perform the jury's duty, cured any potential prejudice. App. 49-50.

At the PCR evidentiary hearing, Trial Counsel testified he did not object to the potential juror's comment at the time it was made because he did not want to draw more attention to it. App. 691, line 1-6. He stated that he objected to it later, outside the presence of the jury, to avoid drawing additional attention by making an objection in front of the jury pool. App. 691, line 8-11. Trial Counsel testified he believed that his objection was properly made and preserved the issue for appellate review at that time. App. 693. Trial Counsel noted Petitioner took the stand at trial, as necessitated by his self-defense strategy, and therefore his prior conviction was going to come out to the jury anyway. App. 694. He stated that if there had been any other convictions on Petitioner's record in addition to the 2005 charge, the Solicitor would have brought it out to the jury on cross-examination of Petitioner as well. App. 695.

In its Order of Dismissal, the PCR court found Trial Counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for choosing not to object in front of the jury pool. Strickland requires that trial counsel be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-689 (1984). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Id. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

Here, the PCR court found Trial Counsel credibly testified that he chose not to draw the jury pool's attention to the juror's comment by objecting to it. App. 739. It noted Trial Counsel immediately objected once he was outside the presence of the jury and requested a new trial, and the trial court gave a curative instruction. App. 739. Trial Counsel's testimony constitutes probative evidence that supports the PCR court's finding that he articulated a valid trial strategy in choosing not to object. Furthermore, in his Petition, Petitioner argues counsel could have approached the bench to make a contemporaneous objection and preserve the issue for appeal. This suggestion ignores the fact that approaching the bench would have drawn the jury pool's

attention to the comment as well. The strategy was valid under either scenario. Thus, the ruling that there was no deficiency in Trial Counsel's representation should be affirmed.

Secondly, even if Trial Counsel were somehow deficient, there is no resulting prejudice from his failure to object. First, the PCR court found there was no prejudice because the jury heard about Petitioner's prior convictions later in the trial when he took the stand to testify. App. 739. In order to present a successful strategy of self-defense under the facts and circumstances of this case, Trial Counsel opined Petitioner had to take the stand and testify at trial. Petitioner had a prior cocaine conviction from 2005 which was admissible as impeachment evidence and was brought out in front of the jury. The PCR court found that there was no resulting prejudice from the potential juror's comment because the jury ultimately heard about Petitioner's prior record regardless of the comment.

Moreover, even if the issue had been properly preserved for appeal, it would not have changed the outcome of the appeal, so Petitioner can show no prejudice. The trial court has broad discretion when determining whether potential jurors are qualified to serve on the jury. See State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 672 S.E.2d 556, 560 (2009) (“Deference to the trial court is appropriate [which necessarily involves granting the trial court broad discretion] because it is in a position to assess the demeanor of the venire, and of the individuals who compose it, a factor of critical importance in assessing the attitude and qualifications of potential jurors.”) (quoting Uttecht v. Brown, 551 U.S. 1, 9 [2007]). The trial court's determinations regarding juror qualifications will not be disturbed on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the record. State v. Tucker, 334 S.C. 1, 512 S.E.2d 99, 104 (1999).

Petitioner conceded in his direct appeal that nothing in the potential juror's vague comment about being locked up with Petitioner in the past indicated “whether [Petitioner] was

incarcerated for the current charge or for a previous charge,” “whether he was actually convicted of the potential prior charge,” or “a nexus or logical relevance between the prior bad act and the current offense.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 6). Thus, under Petitioner’s own analysis of the comment, it was so vague it could not possibly constitute sufficient prejudice to warrant disqualifying the entire jury pool. If counsel had contemporaneously objected he still would have lost this argument on direct appeal. Petitioner has failed to carry his burden of proving otherwise.

Finally, a curative instruction is generally deemed to cure any alleged error. State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 (Ct.App. 2005); see also State v. Bantan, 387 S.C. 412, 692 S.E.2d 201, 204-206 (Ct. App. 2010) (witness’ reference to defendant’s presence on an inadmissible surveillance video did not warrant mistrial in light of trial court’s curative instruction indicating the jury should disregard the testimony). In this case, the trial court immediately excused the juror at issue, and instructed the remaining jurors the excused juror’s reference to being “locked up” with Petitioner had nothing to do with the present case, and they were to disregard the statement entirely. Rather than enhance the prejudice as Petitioner alleges, the court effectively minimized the reference by alluding to it as a youthful indiscretion everyone experiences. App. 35.

Subsequent to the curative instruction, the trial court asked if there was “any reason whatsoever” any of the remaining jurors could not perform the duty of determining the true facts of the case and applying those facts to the law as instructed by the court. Only two jurors responded, and neither mentioned the excused juror’s vague statement as a reason they could not perform that duty. App. 43-46. Consequently, there is absolutely **no** evidence the excused juror’s statement “tainted” the remaining jurors in any way, and therefore, the circuit court properly denied Petitioner’s motion to disqualify the entire jury pool. See State v. Anderson, 754

S.E.2d 761, 764-66 (W.Va. 2014) (prospective juror's statement in the presence of other prospective jurors that defendant "just looks guilty" did not taint the jury pool such that a mistrial was warranted); State v. Betancourt, 322 P.3d 353, 362-63 (Kan. 2014) (prospective juror's reference to the crime being "gang related" during *voir dire* did not warrant a mistrial because the juror mentioned gang involvement only in passing, the topic was not raised again, and the remaining jurors indicated during general *voir dire* they could decide the case on the evidence before them).

For all these reasons, Petitioner can show no prejudice from Trial Counsel's failure to object because the issue would not have succeeded on appeal if it had been preserved. Because probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that there was no deficiency or prejudice, this Court should affirm its findings.

II. Certiorari should be denied because probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the mutual combat jury instruction where the instruction was proper under the law and supported by the evidence presented at trial.

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the mutual combat jury instruction because there was no evidence that Petitioner agreed upon a gun fight but instead armed himself in self-defense after a fist-fight escalated and the victim drew a gun. However, probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that the mutual combat charge was properly given where evidence presented at trial supported the charge, and therefore Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object.

The trial transcript and the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing reveal Petitioner was involved in a fist-fight between himself and the two victims in this case, which followed a confrontation that took place earlier in the day. During the fight, one of the victims, Zantrell Mays, pulled out a gun, cocked it, and waved it in Petitioner's face. See App. 169, App. 170, App. 111-113. Petitioner then turned away, grabbed a gun from a friend in the group of onlookers, and shot both victims, killing one and injuring the other. See App. 170, line 9-13.

The State presented testimony of Zantrell Mays, Petitioner's written statement confessing to grabbing a gun during the fight and shooting the two victims, and testimony of multiple eyewitnesses who were present during the incident, including Tiffany Haynes, William Henry Jones, and Carlen Thomas. App. 73-85; 170; 204-211; 230-243; 250-274. In its jury charge, the trial court gave the following instruction:

If the defendant voluntarily participated in mutual combat, a fight, for purposes other than protection, the killing of the victim would not be self-defense. This is true even if, during the combat, the defendant feared death or serious bodily injury... For mutual combat, there must be a mutual intent and willingness to fight. This intent must be shown by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances surrounding the combat.

App. 515, line 11-23. Trial Counsel did not object to this instruction.

Jury charges must be based on the evidence presented. "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 512 (2000). A jury charge is appropriately given if there is any evidence presented that would support it. To warrant reversal, a trial judge's charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial. Ellison v. Parts Distributors, Inc., 302 S.C. 299, 301, 395 S.E.2d 740, 741 (Ct.App.1990).

Mutual Combat negates a claim of self-defense. State v. Jones, 113 S.C. 134, 101 S.E. 647 (1919). South Carolina courts have held that there must be "mutual intent and willingness to fight" to constitute mutual combat. State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 450, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495 (1973). Mutual intent is "manifested by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances attending and leading up to the combat." Id. "Where two persons mutually engage in combat, and one kills another, and at the time of the killing it be maliciously done, it is murder." State v. Andrews, 73 S.C. 257, 257, 53 S.E. 423, 424 (1906). The doctrine has most often been applied in situations where the defendant and decedent bear a grudge against each other before the fight in which one of them is killed occurs. See, e.g., State v. Porter, 269 S.C. 618, 239 S.E.2d 641 (1977).

In its order, the PCR court found the jury charge of mutual combat was properly given in this case, and thus Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the instruction. App. 742. The PCR court explained there was evidence presented at the trial that there was a dispute between Petitioner and the two victims earlier in the day. There was evidence presented that Petitioner and the two victims willingly entered into a separate altercation that evening, and they all physically fought each other. The PCR court noted that, more importantly, there was evidence

that, at some point during the fight, the victim pulled out a firearm, and Petitioner pulled out a firearm in response. App. 742. Petitioner then shot both the victim who pulled the gun and his unarmed younger brother.

This evidence presented at trial consisted not only of eyewitness testimony from at least three onlookers of the fight, but it also included a written statement given by Petitioner in which he admitted his involvement in the fight and that he grabbed a gun in response to Zantrell Mays pulling out a gun. Petitioner argues this Court's opinion in State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003) stands for the proposition that a mutual combat charge is not appropriate in a shooting that started as a fist fight. This reading is too restrictive. Taylor merely establishes a mutual combat charge is not proper where the parties are engaged only in a fist fight. Here, the parties were not, and the fight mutually escalated into a gun fight. Because there was evidence presented that both Petitioner and the victim were armed in this fight, the mutual combat instruction was properly given. The underlying fight and ongoing dispute in this case distinguishes the facts from a self-defense case. The ongoing dispute coupled with the parties' escalation of the fight into a gun fight create mutual combat. Any objection to this instruction would have been overruled.

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